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ALEJANDRO N. MAYORKAS 
United States Attorney 
GEORGE S. CARDONA 
Assistant United St~te5 Attorney 
chief, Criminal b1vision . 
MICHAEL J. GENNACO lCA Bar No. 112969) 
CAROLINE C. WITTCOFF (eA Bar No, 162943) 
Assistant Unit~d states Attorneys 
Civ~l Rights Section 
MICHAtL TERRELL (CA Bar No. ll~656) 
Assistant United states AttornQ~ 
Majo~ Crimes Section 
a~ (BOBSr) BERNSTEIN (VA Bar No. 38490) 
rrial Attorney, civil Rights n~vi5ion 

1300 United States courthouse 
312 Nortn Spring street 
Los An~eles, California 90012 
Telephone: (213) 894-2393 

Attorneys for Pla~ntiff 
It UNITED STATEs OF ~ERlCA 
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UNITED STAT~S D~STRICT COURT 

FOR THE CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALrFORNIA 

UNITtD STATES or AMERICA, 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

BUFORD O'NEAL FURROW, JR., 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
J 
) 

No. c~ 99-B38[A)-~ 

GOVERNMENT'S NOTIC~ or INTENT 
TO SEEK THE nEATH P~NALTY 

[UNDEEt SEAL] 

19 aka Neal Furrow, ) 

19 D~!endane. 
1 
} 

------------------~---------} 20 

21 NO~Ice OF IN~NT TO SE~K THE P£~TH PENALTY 

22 The united States of America, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 

23 § 3593(a}, notifies the Couxt and defendant BUFORD O'NEAL FURROW, 

24 JR., aka N6al Furrow, that the Government believes the 

25 circum~tances of the capital orfenses ~harged in Counts One 

26 through Three of the First Superseding Indictment are such that, 

27 in the ~~ent of the defendant's conviction o{ one or more of 

28 th~se offenses, a sentence of death is justified under Cnaptar 
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l 228 (sc;ction.!5 3591 through 3599) of Title 18 of the United states 

,I 2 Code, and that th~ Governm@nt will seek the sentence of death for 

J each and all of ths following offenses; count One, the first 
, j 
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4 degree murder of United States Postal Carrier Joseph Santos 

5 rl~to, in violation of Title 18, United states Code, s~ction5 

o 1111 and l114; Count Two, the fir~t degree ~urder of Jos~ph 

7 Santos Ileto, in v~olatlon of ~itle 18, Unit@d states Code, 

S Section 924 (c) , (j); and, Count Three, the interference with the 

9 federallY protected ~igh~~ of Joseph Santos Ileto which resulted 

10 in his death, in violation of Title 18, United states Code, 

11 Section 245(b) (4) (A); each of which carries a ~os~ible sentence 

12 of death. 

l3 With respect to each of count One, Count Two. and Count 

14 Thr@e, the Governm@nt p~oposes to prove the following factors as 

15 justifying a sentence of deat~. 

16 A. statutoty P;oportionalitv Factors ~numerated under 18 

17 u.s .C" § 3591 fa) (2) (A)- (P) I . 
18 1. Intentional Killing. The defendant intsntional1y 

19 killed Jr;Jseph Santos Ileto. Section ::3S9l (a) (.2) (Al . 

20 2. Intentional !nfliction of Serious 8o~ly Injury. 

21 Th~ defendant int~ntionally intlic~ed s@rious bodily injury that 

22 resulted in the death of Joseph Santos Ileto. s~ction 

23 35511 (a) 12) (Ill. 

24 Intentional Acts to Take ~ife or Use Le~al Fg~~e. 

25 The defendant intentionally participated in an act, contem~lating 

2~ that the life ot a person would be taken or inte~ding that lethal 

27 torce would be Used in connection with a person, other than one 

26 2 
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1 of the part10ipants in t'he offense, and JOSeph Santos Ileto died 

'I 2 as a dil"~ct re.9ult of the act. section J591 (aJ (2) (C) • 

i 1 

II 
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5 

~. rht~ntional ,Acts in Reckless D1s.egard for Life. 

The defe~dant intentionally and sp~cific~lly engaged in an act of 

violsnce, knowiDg that the act created a grave riSK of death to ~ 

5 person l other than on~ of the participan~e in the offense, such 

7 that partici?ation in the act cQnstituted a reckless disregard 

8 for human life, and Jos@ph SantoB Ileto died as a direct result 

9 of the L\r:;t. S~ctlon 359l (a) (2) (D) • 

10 B. Statutory Angrqvating facto. Enumerated under 18 U.S.C~ 

11 ~ 3592(c). 

12 The following statutory aggravating factor app~ie5 to each 

13 cf the charged capital offenses, Counts One th~ouqh Three: 

14 1. Substantial Planning and ~~emsdita~ion. 

15 The defendant comrnitLed ths offense after substantial planning 

15 and prerneottation to cause the death of a person and commit an 

l' act of terrori5IO., section 3592 (C) (g) • 

18 c_ other, HQn-~tatutory, Aggravating Fsctors Identifiep 

lS under 19 u-s,e. § 3593(a) (2). 

20 The followihq non-statutory a9gl"a~ating factors apply to 

21 each of the charged capital offenses, Counts One throuqh Three: 

22 1. Hate C~ime Motivation for The Capita~ MUrder 

23 Tha defend~nt intentionally tarqeted and killad Jo~eph Santos 

24 Ileto, who was rilipinQ-Ame~~c~nJ because of the victim's ~ace, 

25 color, and national ori~in_ Evidence of this inoludes, but is 

25 not lim~ted to, one or mOre of the following: 

27 
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1 o. On ~uguet 11, 1ge9, the def~hdant told law enforcement 

2 authorities that h~ would not have kil~ed Joseph Santos Ileto if 

3 the vietim had bean white. 

4 b. During an interview with law enforcement authorities on 

7 op~ortunity' to murder. 

s c. On August ll, 1999, the dsfendant told law enfo~cement 

9 authorities that he intended the murder of Joseph Santos Ileto to 

1D send a message of rac1al hatred to, and instill fear in, other 

11 non-white persona throughout the United States. 

12 2. Lack of Remorse 

13 The defendant has demonstrated a lack of re~orse for the killing 

~4 of Joseph Sant~s Il~to through statements and actions. Evidence 

15 of the defendant's laek of remorse includes, but is not limited 

16 to~ one or more of the following: 

17 e, On August 11J 1999, the defendant atatsd that he is 

18 at war with the J9wish~cQntrollBd federal qovernment( and 

l~ explained that he hoped othe~s would ernulat~ his actions by 

20 commi~ting crimss similar to ~he crimes the defendant committed 

21 on AUgU3t 10, 1999. 

o. On Auqust 11, 1999, the defendant informed 

23 authoritie5 th~t he intBnded to send a me~~age to the nation, and 

~4 ~hQt the murder of Joseph Santos Il~to was part o! th~t message. 

25 C. Oh Auqust 11, 1999( ths defendant ex~licitly stateq 

26 that he is not sorry for his crimes. 

27 

28 4 
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3. victim Impact Evid~nce 

The defendant caused injury, harm, and los~ to the family of 

~o5eph Santos Il~~o beoause of the vi~ti~ls ~ersonal 

characteristics as an individual human bein9 and the impact of 

his death upon the victi~'6 family_ 

4. Other V~olent Hate Cr~es Committed by th~ 

Defendant 

The ce~endant bas committed other Violent hate crimes involving 

acts of violence aqainst others because of their actual or 

perceived reliqion. EVidence of these acts includes, but is not 

limited tO I on@ or more of the following, committed in a ~ingle 

criminal ep1aodei 

a. On August 10, 1999 r the defendBnt shot and 

injured Isabelle Shalom8th, a Qij ~ear old woman, at the North 

Valley Jewish Co~unity Cent~r in Granada Hill~, Calirarnia, 

because the victim is Jewish, as alleged in Count Four of the 

First Superseding Indictment, 

b. On ~Ugust lD, 1999, tbe defendant shot and 

injured J5ne Doa, a sixteen yaar old female, at the North Valley 

Jewish community Center in Granada Rills, California, because the 

victim i~ Jewish, ag alleged in Count FiVe of the First 

Superseding !nCictment. 

23 c. On AUqU8t 10, 1999, tna defendant shot and 

24 injured John Doe 1, a five y@ar old bey, atthQ North Valley 

25 JewIsh Coromun~ty center in Granada Hills, Califo~nia, because the 

~6 victim is Jewtsh, as allQged in Count Six of the First 

27 Supe~sed1ng Indictment. 
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1 d. On August 10, 199B, the defendant shot and 

2 injured John Doe 2, a six year old bOYt at the North Valley 

3 Jewish community Ce~ter ih Granad~ Hilla, Calito~nia, because the 

4 victim is Jewish, as alleged in Count Seven of the First 

5 Superseding Indictment. 

6 e. On August 10, 1999, the defendant shot and 

7 injured John Doe 3, a six yea~ old boy, at the North Valley 

8 Jewish commUhity cente~ in Granada Hills, California, because the 

9 victim is ~ewi$ht as alleged In Count Eiqht of the First 

10 Supsr~eding Indictment. 

11 5. FU~ure Dangerousn~ss o~ the bet~ndant. 

12 the def8ndant is likely to commit criminal acts of violence in 

13 the futura which would be a continuing and serioU5 threat to the 

24 lives and safety of others. In addition to the capital of tenses 

15 and non-capital offenses charged in tne First Supersedin~ 

1~ Indictment and the statutory and non-statutory aqqravating 

17 fa~tors in this Notice, the defendant has co~itted acts 

lB including, but not limi~ed ~O, one or more of the tollowing: 

19 a. The defendant has admitted ~ desire to assault 

20 and kill non-white law entorce~ent authorities J in that, on 

2l August ll, 1999} he stated that: 

i. as he was driving f~om the State of 

23 Wa~hington to S~uth@rn California, he had within reach a fully~ 

24 automatic rifle. which was loaded with steel core ar.mor-pierc1nq 

~5 amm~nitionr and he was prepar~d LO use it to ~hoot any non-whit~ 

26 law enforcement officer w~o happensd to $top his vehicle; and 

28 6 
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1 ii. he would have tried to k1ll any non-

2 white law enforcem~nt ofticer who attempted to arreSL him for his 

~ August 10, 1999, crimes. 

4 b. On Augus~ 11, 1999, the defendant stated ~hat 

5 if he could kill all non-white persons, he ~ould not nesitate to 

6 do 80. 

? c. On or about Octobe~ 2~, 19S9, while 

8 incarcecated in the Met~apolitan Datention Center in Los Angeles, 

9 Californ~a, the d~fendant threatened to kil~ Raul Lopsz, a Lat~no 

10 inmate, and guards who were assigned to the defendant's housing 

11 unit. 

12 d. On August 10 , 1999, in Los Angeles county, 

13 california, as d9fenda~t was fleeing from the shooting at the 

11 Jewish community Center, tne defendant carja~ked a ~ehicle at 

15 gunpoint by pointing a fi~earm at t~e dri~er and forcing h~r back 

16 into the venicle. After the victim sacaped, the defehdant 

17 brandished the firearm ~t her and o~h~~ witnes5es~ before fleeinq 

1B the are~ in the carjacked vehicle. 

e. On or abo~t Auqu~t la, 1999, in Los Angeles 

20 County, California, the defendant illegally possessed seven 

21 fir~arms, including fiv@ rifles which he admitted to havinq 

22 modifi~d. The modific~~ions the defendant stated he perfor~ed 

23 included converting a Maadi rifle eo fully automatic, (~herEby 

24 converting it to ba a machine gun and making th~ weapon more 

2S dangerous), and shortening th~ harrel o~ a N~r~nco model 320, 9mm 

26 rifle f (making the weapon easier to conceal and to aim in a 

21 confined area), T~e defendant possessad the Seven firegrms af~er 

2S 7 



l 

, J 

, I 

\1 
I 

, I 

I 

\ 
I 

\! 
1\ 

\ 

1 having acknowledged on June 16} 1999, that h~ knew that he could 

2 not legally possess a tirea~ because he was a convicted felon. 

3 f. The def@noant has previously been convicted of 

4 a st~te felohy punish~ble by a term of imprisonment of more than 

5 one year, involving the October 28, 1998, brandishing af a knif@ 

6 at two female victims and a police offic@r, in tnat, on May 21, 

? 1999, in the SUperior Court of Washington for King countYt the 

8 defendant was convicted of Assault in the Second Degree, in 

9 violatio~ of the Rsvised Code of OOashington 9A.36.021(lJ (c), a 

10 fel~ny under the laws of the state of Washington. rhe defendant 

II killBd ~o5@ph santos Ileto w~11e on ~robation tor his assault 

12 conViction. 

13 g. In October 199B, the defenoant reported having 

14 homicidal thoughts about comm1tting maS9 murder. 

15 h. The defendant ~as threatened physical harm to 

16 th~ woman he referred to as his wir~ and to hsr son, including a 

17 threat to deliver the son's h~ad to her on a platter. 

18 / I 

l~ I I 

20 J / 

21 I / 
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23 / I 
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The ~vernme~t further gives notice that, in support of 

impo~ition of the death p~naltYJ it intends to rely upon evidence 

admitted by the Court at the guilt phase of the trial and the 

otten3es of conviction as d9sc~~bed in the First Super5eding 

Indi~tment as they relate to che defendant's hata crime 

motivation for ~he capital murder, his ~ack of re~orse, other 

violent hat~ crDnes committed by the defendant~ and his ~utu~e 

dangerousness. 

DATE; February ~ , 2000 Respectfully submitted, 

ALEJANDRO N. MAYORI<AS 
un~ted states Attorney 

GEORGE S. CAkDO~A 
Assistant Unit@d States .Atto~ney 
Chief, Crimin~l Division 

~OLlNE C. I C F 
MrC~L J. GtNNACO 
MICHAEL TERRELL 
AEsistant United States Attorneys 
B~ BERNSTEIN 
Dept. of Justice Trial Attorney 
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Attorneys rOI Plaihtiff 
United States of America 


